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Praise for Phillip Thomas Tucker

Praise for George Washington’s Surprise Attack

“Tucker’s account brims with colorful information … that vivifies this pivotal episode in American history…. Of most interest to military historians and Revolutionary War buffs.”

—Kirkus Reviews

“Pulls back the shroud of legend surrounding the battle of Trenton, revealing the details of the turning point of the American Revolution …. Contrary to longstanding theories that Washington won because of the incompetence of Hessian leader Col. Johann Gottlieb Rall, Tucker validates Rall’s tenacity and deep military leadership. He also gives credit to unsung heroes in Washington’s army.”

—Publishers Weekly

“Extensively researched and superbly argued in Tucker’s compelling narrative, this in-depth examination of George Washington’s ‘military miracle’ at the Battle of Trenton unquestionably confirms the vital importance of that stunning victory.”

—Jerry D. Morelock, PhD, editor in chief, Armchair General magazine

“Tucker combines a detailed analysis of Trenton as a brilliantly conceived and executed military operation with a convincing argument for the battle as the defining event of the American Revolution.”

—Dennis Showalter, PhD, professor of history, Colorado College

Praise for Pickett’s Charge—A Main Selection of the History Book Club

“The account is a mosaic of thousands of tiny pieces that, seen whole, amounts to a fascinating picture of what probably was the most important moments of the Civil War.”

—The New York Times Book Review

“Tucker aims to pierce the myth that Lee’s plan was doomed. He argues that given the South’s need to strike a decisive blow, Lee’s tactics, a complex mix of artillery, infantry, and cavalry, were sound, that in spite of officers’ failures of leadership, communication, and execution, the assault came excruciatingly close to succeeding …. Contains much to interest and provoke Civil War enthusiasts.”

—Kirkus Reviews

“In his almost minute-by-minute account of the most famous infantry charge in history, Phillip Thomas Tucker provides a thoughtful and challenging new look at the great assault at Gettysburg, from planning to aftermath. Not afraid to lay blame where he thinks it belongs, Tucker is fresh and bold in his analysis and use of sources. Even though any reader knows in advance the outcome, still Pickett’s Charge maintains suspense to the sound of the last gun.”

—William C. Davis, author, Crucible of Command: Ulysses S. Grant and Robert E. Lee—The War They Fought, The Peace They Forged

“Replaces 150-plus years of uninterrogated mythology with meticulously researched history to give us a new and long-overdue understanding of what tradition dismisses as Robert E. Lee’s most tragic error in pursuit of a ‘Lost Cause.’”

—Alan Axelrod, author, The 20 Most Significant Events of the Civil War

“A thought-provoking and eye-opening study of this pivotal moment in American history.”

—Louis P. Masur, Rutgers University professor of history author, The Civil War: A Concise History

“You are certainly emerging as one of the most prolific Civil War historians.”

—James McPherson, acclaimed Civil War historian, professor emeritus, Princeton University, to Phillip Thomas Tucker
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To America’s distinguished chiefs of staff and Captain Louis McLane Hamilton, the grandson of Alexander Hamilton. The youngest captain in the United States Army and a proud member of the 7th Cavalry, Captain Hamilton, as promising in the early years after the Civil War as his grandfather had been at the beginning of the American Revolution, was killed during a charge by one of the first hostile shots fired during Lieutenant Colonel George Armstrong Custer’s surprise attack on the Southern Cheyenne village on the Washita River on a snowy November 27, 1868.


Prologue

Despite being only twenty-six years old and still considered by elitists inside and outside the Continental Army as only a lowly immigrant and newcomer from the West Indies when situated just outside the British and Hessian defenses of Yorktown, Virginia, Lieutenant Colonel Alexander Hamilton had gained one of the most important combat missions of the American Revolution in October 1781. However, Hamilton was a combat veteran and not concerned about the risks or dangers of the battlefield; this was exactly the kind of a vital assignment that he had long coveted. Of Scottish heritage on his father’s side and with handsome Scottish looks that were almost boyish—much to the delight of the ladies—Hamilton was every inch of a grizzled fighter, a distinctive quality of a Celtic heritage and his undying belief in the cause of liberty.

Not long after the red-streaked sunset of October 14, 1781, descended over the autumn-hued landscape of the Virginia Tidewater, Hamilton prepared to lead a desperate assault on one of the most formidable British defensive bastions along Yorktown’s siege lines, Redoubt Number Ten. If his relatively small force of Continental light troops could overwhelm the imposing earthen redoubt, and if the French allies could capture adjacent Redoubt Number Nine on this chilly autumn night, then Lord Charles Cornwallis, who had been handed the mission to conquer the South, would be forced to surrender his entire garrison.

As he fully realized, General George Washington had chosen precisely the right officer to lead this crucial attack on Redoubt Number Ten, which anchored Cornwallis’ left flank along with Redoubt Number Nine. Washington knew this highly capable native West Indian extremely well, ever since he had joined his staff at Morristown, New Jersey, on March 1, 1777. Therefore, Washington possessed complete confidence in what the newly married Continental officer could accomplish against any odds. No one in the Continental Army was quite like the irrepressible and brilliant Lieutenant Colonel Hamilton, and Washington had early realized as much.

As a tactically flexible leader on the battlefield, Hamilton had long ago far exceeded the highest of expectations as Washington’s invaluable right-hand man at his headquarters for most of the war. Most importantly, there was nothing insignificant about young Hamilton’s many outsized accomplishments on and off the battlefield, especially as Washington’s trusted chief of staff in the modern sense from March 1777 to early 1781. Hamilton’s tenure was not only the longest (nearly four years) of any member of Washington’s staff, but also by far the most important and crucial from beginning to end.

In a desperate dash across open ground in the autumn blackness, Hamilton led the charge on imposing Redoubt Number Ten, while sending a Continental battalion—under the command of his best friend, Lieutenant Colonel John Laurens—swinging around to gain the bastion’s rear: a clever pincer movement guaranteed to catch the enemy by surprise. Once again and as so often in the past, this gifted young man in a blue Continental officer’s uniform had proven that he could succeed in almost any goal that he sought to attain.

Hamilton’s remarkable tactical success in capturing this strategic redoubt, in conjunction with the capture of the adjacent redoubt by the French, sealed the fate of Yorktown and the British-Hessian-Loyalist army. Lord Charles Cornwallis had no choice but to surrender his entire army: a turning point not only in American history, but also in world history. As he did so often in the past, Alexander Hamilton had played a vital role in Washington’s (and the French allies’) decisive victory at Yorktown, guaranteeing a bright beginning and promising future for an infant people’s republic, the United States of America.


Introduction

In America’s capital city filled with impressive monuments to America’s Founding Fathers, military heroes, and political leaders, no official memorial or monument has ever been erected to Alexander Hamilton in Washington, DC. Instead, a lone bronze statue of Hamilton sits on the south patio of the US Treasury Building. This notable omission in the nation’s capital is a classic irony, because no Founding Father played a larger role in the creation of America as we know it today than this remarkable man from the faraway West Indies. Even more, no Founding Father of America overcame greater adversity and more setbacks early in life than Alexander Hamilton, who became a master at doing the impossible, regardless of the odds. This irrepressible young man elevated himself to lofty heights because he possessed an uncanny ability to dream big and almost miraculously overcome the seemingly insurmountable obstacles stemming from family tragedies, cruel twists of fate, and hard luck that were no fault of his own.

Despite his unpromising beginnings on the tropical islands of Nevis, where he had been born, and St. Croix, as the only Founding Father not born and raised on American soil, Hamilton succeeded by way of his own impressive array of abilities (a true self-made man) as one of the most extraordinary men not only of the Revolutionary War Era, but also of American history. Quite simply and although long overshadowed by the other Founding Fathers who possessed higher social standing and achieved far less (especially on the battlefield) during the war years, Hamilton was one of the best and brightest of his generation. No Founding Father was more naturally gifted or accomplished than Hamilton both on and off the battlefield, other than perhaps General George Washington himself.

Nevertheless, Hamilton became the most paradoxical, and hence least-understood, most controversial, and unappreciated, of all Founding Fathers. In fact, no Founding Father has been more unfairly maligned by untruths and unappreciated for less justifiable reasons than Hamilton, including during the war years, when he was the only Founding Father besides Washington to fight on the battlefield and compile a distinguished military record. And no Founding Father has been more thoroughly distorted by more misconceptions than Hamilton, in part because of his perceived foreignness and dysfunctional upbringing. But ironically, his past in this once-remote tropical paradise saddled the young man with the demons that motivated and relentlessly drove him to excel and to do what seemed absolutely impossible for a lowly immigrant to achieve on American soil, year after year.

Today, Hamilton’s fame as a Founding Father has continued to rest almost entirely on his key political and economic contributions after the American Revolution to lay a central foundation upon which America’s superpower status has long rested. Indeed, he played a leading role with President George Washington in forging the new nation and his legacy lives with us today. Before today’s popular Broadway play Hamilton, which has raised the level of overall awareness about the fiercely driven West Indian, Americans have long mostly known about Hamilton from his fatal duel on July 11, 1804, with Vice President Aaron Burr. What generations of Americans have known least and have little appreciated about Hamilton—in the past and even today—have been his many distinguished military contributions, both on and off the battlefield, especially in regard to his long-overlooked chief-of-staff role and the all-important French Alliance.

And, of course, Hamilton’s image has become readily familiar to generations of Americans since 1928 from his handsome, chiseled face on the ten-dollar bill: a distinguished portrait of the mature Hamilton, the established politician, wealthy attorney, and married man of post–Revolutionary War America. Perpetuating the traditional image of Hamilton in the popular memory, he is depicted in aristocratic civilian attire in this famous portrait, rather than in the military uniform of a lieutenant colonel in the Continental Army. This enduring popular image has also helped to effectively obscure his all-important wartime role as the dashing young officer, who was the most gifted and dynamic leader of Washington’s staff.

In both war and peace, the central foundation of the modern American nation was laid and created by the most brilliant leadership team in American history, Washington and Hamilton. But this post–Revolutionary War leadership team of two idealistic nationalists would not have forged or excelled for years had not this vital working relationship been first cemented by an inordinate level of trust and mutual respect created by the challenges of the difficult war years, from early 1777 to 1781—a relationship forged in adversity and unprecedented challenges not readily understood, even today. Fortunately for Washington and America, Hamilton was an innovative intellectual and deep-thinking genius, who excelled in multiple fields of endeavor upon which the life of the infant United States often hung by a thread during the war years.

Ironically, however, Hamilton’s beginning could not have been more unpromising, unlike the other Founding Fathers. He endured a broken family (a rogue father and a wayward mother), illegitimate and then orphan status, humble origins, and a host of tragedies before he migrated to America just before the Revolutionary War. These setbacks only fueled Hamilton’s desire to succeed almost at any cost. Paradoxically, a perceived “foreignness” of the erudite Hamilton by provincial Americans—including those (even some other Founding Fathers of the aristocracy) who were jealous and suspicious of his many gifts—tarnished his historical image. However, Hamilton was actually more fiercely nationalistic than those America-born leaders who unfairly criticized him and had never risked their lives on the battlefield. Although the high-ranking elitist politicians, especially in Congress, who detested him because this commoner boldly took his better-educated and highly respected elders to task for their many failures that endangered the life of the army and the revolution, Hamilton did whatever he could for America’s benefit as a diehard nationalist at the expense of his own image and reputation. Ironically, his elitist distracters later condemned him for his lack of support for the common man, when he was the most common man among the Founding Fathers.

Most importantly, he evolved into America’s first chief of staff, in the modern sense, for General Washington at his headquarters by the spring of 1777. This was a historic development and a distinguished first in the annals of American military history: the birth of the chief of staff, the second most important position after the army’s commander, in the modern sense. Despite holding only a lieutenant colonel’s rank, and being the youngest staff officer of the general’s military “family,” Hamilton nevertheless played multiple invaluable roles that have been generally unappreciated to this day.

It has been long assumed by generations of American historians that Washington managed the Continental Army largely on his own without a chief of staff, which is one of the great myths of the American Revolution and one that has stubbornly persisted to this day, partly because of the longtime hero worship of the “Father of our Country.” But in truth and far more than has been realized by most American historians, Washington benefitted immeasurably from Hamilton’s influence, whose contributions made Washington a much better and more capable general in the end.

Fortunately for Washington’s management of the Continental Army and dealing with almost insurmountable problems, the general had early possessed a distinct genius (perhaps his most overlooked talent) for recognizing superior ability and talent, especially in regard to young Hamilton’s seemingly boundless potential and promise. As the commander-in-chief’s favorite aide-de-camp and top staff officer—a meticulous workaholic blessed with sound judgments and brilliant insights—for nearly four years, Hamilton contributed significantly to the war effort because he was an original, brilliant, and bold thinker who constantly challenged convention for the overall good of America and the army. Significantly, the famed General Staff of the German military establishment of the World Wars had long cultivated the boldest and most unorthodox (nonconformists and mavericks) individuals from among its most promising students to be original thinkers because they were the ones who eventually excelled in the art of war by thinking outside the dominance of the entrenched, traditional thinking of opposition leadership—a forgotten key to success. Washington was most fortunate because Washington fit all of these requirements of an ideal General Staff officer of the modern period.

Not one of the thirty-two men who served on his personal staff known as the “family”—and even general officers of the Continental Army—was more vital to Washington year after year than Hamilton. He was literally the commander-in-chief’s chosen one and golden boy, who could accomplish almost any task or mission required by “His Excellency,” despite the odds or obstacles. From beginning to end, therefore, Hamilton was Washington’s indispensable right-hand man with a can-do attitude and perfectionist mentality that early transformed him into the primary driving force of Washington’s headquarters staff, the nerve center of the Continental Army and America’s overall resistance effort.

Consequently, Hamilton became inseparable from Washington while serving in his invaluable role as the first chief of staff in the modern sense. Historians have long incorrectly portrayed how Washington operated in little more than a vacuum in his major decision-making at headquarters year after year. In one of the great paradoxes of Revolutionary War historiography, generations of historians have simply assumed and deliberately emphasized that Washington made notable achievements that should actually be credited to Hamilton. Fortunately for America, the talents of each man—Washington and Hamilton—almost perfectly compensated for and complemented what the other lacked to create an unbeatable whole: the most dynamic and successful leadership team of the American Revolution and then of post-war America in regard to the highest office in the land, when Washington served as the nation’s first president.

In part because Hamilton had only recently arrived as a lowly immigrant from the West Indies thanks to influential backers, there long remained an enduring suspicion (especially among his military and political enemies of the upper-class elite, including other Founding Fathers) that he was unworthy of the name American. After the war, he was constantly attacked in the press by Jeffersonian opponents (whose political leader from Monticello never fought on a battlefield or made significant wartime contributions like Hamilton) for being un-American, as if he had never played such a vital role by Washington’s side for so long and during some of the crucial campaigns of the American Revolution. But, in fact, after Washington, no Founding Father contributed more to America’s ultimate victory on the battlefield and overall success as a nation than the much-maligned Hamilton. Therefore, one of the great conundrums and contradictions of American history was how Hamilton’s long list of impressive wartime accomplishments could have become so unappreciated by the nation that he so often risked his life to save, and helped to create both on and off the battlefield for years. For one, history has not been kind to Hamilton. Aristocratic Founding Fathers like John Adams and Jefferson held Hamilton in contempt because of his immigrant status. For such reasons, the Jefferson Memorial stands in impressive fashion from the tidal basin in Washington, DC, while no comparable memorial to Hamilton can be seen to this day.

Hamilton’s remarkable success story—literally a case of rags to glory—was the very personification of the American dream to people around the world today: taking advantage of existing opportunities and rising higher on one’s own abilities and hard work, overcoming the odds regardless of background, religion, or social status, not to mention the fact that in a nation that was built through successive tides of immigrants looking for a coveted piece of the American dream, Hamilton was one of the original immigrants. Possessing an uncanny ability to rise above adversity and hardship that were too great for most people to overcome, Hamilton’s meteoric rise from Caribbean obscurity and dysfunctional family background to the leading player on Washington’s staff and a revered war hero was a true Horatio Alger story.

After he became disillusioned with America’s failing war effort and lack of unity, this cerebral young man was focused on solving infant America’s seemingly insolvable military, economic, and political problems while serving on Washington’s staff during the war. Nevertheless, he still remained an outsider and maverick—actually assets—in fundamental ways, especially as an innovative problem solver which set him apart from a mostly conservative officer corps, consisting mostly of traditional America-born men of a higher class and social standing. These orthodox types were the least likely individuals to develop original ideas that provided solutions to new and complex problems. Partly because of such reasons and his outstanding success in multiple fields of endeavor, Hamilton made a good many wartime enemies, including influential members of Congress, and, he remained at odds with powerful politicians of the Virginia Dynasty, especially Thomas Jefferson, and other Anti-Federalists, after the war.

As Washington fully recognized, Hamilton was very different from his peers who were far more provincial and less gifted. Hamilton’s overall outlook of life reflected his sharply dissimilar and broader background, which embodied more wide-ranging experiences, including on an international level in the Caribbean. Therefore, Hamilton was a free-thinking and open-minded newcomer to America without the burden of regional biases or prejudices that damaged America’s war effort from the beginning. This “Hamilton difference” provided keen insights, original thinking, and accurate assessments that served him so well in advising Washington, especially during high-level dealings with upper-class French military leaders.

Hamilton’s well-grounded and sophisticated progressive opinions were cosmopolitan beyond his years and well beyond the narrow regional views of many revolutionary leaders, especially during the American Revolution. This was especially true in regard to slavery, specifically the young man’s hatred of slavery. As he emphasized in an appeal to the Continental Congress in 1779, Hamilton believed in black equality to whites, which was a view extremely rare in his day and unmatched by any Founding Father, especially slave owners—a significant difference among the Founding Fathers that has been long overlooked. He utterly rejected the prevalent concept of black inferiority with a self-assured ease, and boldly appealed to Congress to allow slaves to fight for their freedom and that of America. In time, Hamilton became a principal leader of the New York Manumission Society. For a wide variety of reasons and especially in regard to his lowly immigrant background, Hamilton’s life was very much a paradox: The ultimate outsider who became the ultimate insider and visionary nationalist who stood at the very center of some of the most dramatic moments in America’s story from Washington’s headquarters to his presidency of the world’s newest republic.

Today, Hamilton has become known primarily because of his disproportionate and significant contributions in the drafting of the United States Constitution, and his service as America’s first Secretary of the Treasury. He also founded the national bank, established a solid base for future industrial growth, and played a leading role in the adoption of stronger government institutions. His innovations were intended to make the new republic financially stable and functional, thus ensuring a bright future, while helping to preserve the fragile union of diverse states: the laying of the very foundation for the modern American nation. These contributions were especially significant and timely because the upstart United States of America was fully expected by many people, especially European leaders, to fail miserably and to be shortly relegated to the dust bin of history.

However, the breadth of these well-known postwar achievements has obscured Hamilton’s astonishing career as one of the most remarkable officers of the Continental Army, when he served by Washington’s side for nearly four years. As fate would have it and in Washington’s giant shadow, he was largely unseen behind the scenes at Washington’s headquarters, especially in regard to decision-making and coordinating intelligence activities. This was no accident. The stoic Hamilton actually allowed the limelight to shine on Washington, because he was the symbol of self-sacrificing patriotism and the overall resistance effort that had to be promoted at all times.

As only a lieutenant colonel in his twenties and a relative newcomer to America’s shores who had spent most of his life in the West Indies, Hamilton’s wartime responsibilities, as early delegated to him by his appreciative commanding general who knew that the young man could always get the job done, were truly sweeping for the fulfillment of a chief of staff’s responsibilities. Washington’s trust in this young man of such exceptional promise, which shortly grew to a heavy dependence that continued unabated for most of the war and even during his presidency after the war, was demonstrated in the most important fields of endeavor: strategy, politics, intelligence, planning, logistics, training, and diplomacy with the Continental Congress, politicians, generals, and the French allies. Hamilton’s diplomatic skill and fluency in French paid considerable dividends in regard to America’s proud and sensitive primary partner, which was absolutely necessary for easy communications and better understanding between culturally dissimilar allies (former enemies in the previous war) that were essential to eventually achieving decisive victory in the end.

Equally significant for America’s successful war effort, Hamilton played an invaluable role in protecting Washington’s leadership position and reputation when the rising tide of criticism, including that coming from ambitious fellow generals and members of Continental Congress against the Virginian with losing ways, and when more successful rivals sought to replace him by Machiavellian means. Year after year, therefore, Lieutenant Colonel Hamilton served as Washington’s ever-vigilant guardian angel, helping to ensure that he securely remained the army’s commander and symbol of America’s resistance effort until the war’s end.

In multiple roles of extreme importance, Hamilton repeatedly rose to the fore when the battlefield situation was especially crucial, from the battle of Trenton as a New York artillery commander, to the battle of Monmouth Court House as Washington chief of staff, and all the way to the battle of Yorktown as the tactically astute commander of light infantry in the crucial attack. Incredibly and like very few others, Hamilton excelled in every branch of the service, except cavalry, and only because he never had an opportunity to do so.

While women of all ages loved Hamilton, he made enemies of men very easily, and often without significant cause, thanks to his brilliance and success that generated considerable jealousy. Partly because of his many enemies of influence, high-ranking generals and politicians, (especially Jefferson after the war), who grossly distorted the historical record to diminish his many significant contributions and political and economic legacies, Hamilton has become America’s most controversial Founding Father for reasons mostly unjustified. On the other hand, he could count on the loyal friendship of many of America’s leading men, especially Washington, who fully understood his true value to himself and America, and never lost his faith in Hamilton.

His determined and dogged perseverance, born of his earlier life struggle for existence in the Caribbean, was another key to Hamilton’s amazing wartime and postwar successes that continuously astounded Washington and other Founding Fathers. In the West Indies as well as in America, Hamilton fought to overcome a series of formidable obstacles and social prejudices set firmly in place to block his rise because of the arbitrary dictates of class, wealth, and social background. This was one fundamental reason why he so enthusiastically embraced America’s egalitarian spirit and struggle for liberty that boldly defied the unfair social foundations of the aristocratic elite and the traditional ruling class.

As fully demonstrated at the battles of Trenton (late 1776) and Princeton (early 1777) and other hard-fought contests when he earned distinction while commanding a New York state battery with tactical skill, Hamilton was early recognized as a gifted young officer by senior leaders, including Washington. Hamilton’s sterling reputation and seemingly endless promise opened the door to Washington’s invitation—one of his best decisions and far more than he realized at the time—to join in his staff on March 1, 1777. For ample good reason, he was nicknamed Washington’s and the Continental Army’s “Little Lion.” Hamilton’s sobriquet of Little Lion did not stem from either his youth or slender form, but from his eagerness to win battlefield distinction, and an almost suicidal courage that repeatedly defied death in crisis situations. Some observers even believed that the young man possessed a death wish.

During this era, the term “little” referred to humble origins. The dashing Hamilton, who wore a resplendent uniform with meticulous care as if educated at a European military academy, actually stood above average height of the time at five foot and seven inches in a lithe, well-proportioned form. But Hamilton’s lively personality, intelligence, leadership abilities, and other natural gifts were truly outsized. As mentioned, this scholarly intellectual was also a man of action. During the battle of Monmouth Court House, New Jersey, on June 28, 1778, Hamilton, with saber in hand and dashing back and forth on horseback, played a key role. Here, he rallied shaken troops and even led a counterattack to help save the day, after having shouted “let us all die here rather than retreat” in the face a spirited British counterattack. This is but one example of Hamilton’s fighting spirit in a key battlefield situation.

Besides achieving ultimate victory and creating a strong nation for survival in a dangerous world, Lieutenant Colonel Hamilton, imbued with the republican spirit of the Age of the Enlightenment ideologies, most of all wanted America to truly live-up to its lofty ideals. To him, this meant that America should end slavery to remain true to its most basic founding principles. Ahead of his time and at the risk of his career and good standing in serving as Washington’s chief of staff, he boldly advocated for the use of black soldiers to fight for their own and America’s freedom in the South. He was a leading advocate of this audacious proposal to Congress risking his reputation, especially among the highest-ranking Southern politicians and military men in America.

In addition, Hamilton also early befriended when Washington initially remained cool to still another opportunistic foreign officer (especially when he had been endorsed by rival General Horatio Gates) seeking higher rank and served as a liaison officer early on to Prussian Baron Freidrich Wilhelm von Steuben. Von Steuben later led the way in transforming the Continental Army into a well-drilled military organization to match their professional and superior opponent. Hamilton early recognized the Prussian’s true value, while helping to make the German’s acclimation into the Continental Army a relatively smooth one.

For the first time in any single volume, the primary emphasis of this book will be to reveal how a young immigrant from the West Indies made so many all-important contributions as the commander’s principal aide-de-camp and closest confidant during most of the war years, the invaluable chief of staff role: the often overlooked story of the dynamic leadership team of Washington and Hamilton during the war’s most critical periods at headquarters and on the battlefield. What has been most often forgotten was the fact that this was a truly symbiotic relationship between these two men, separated by social standing and in age by more than two decades and dissimilar life experiences, a close rapport which played a vital role not only in America’s ultimate success in the end, but also the nation’s long life in the future.

Therefore, this book will present the long overlooked and generally unappreciated story of the detailed inter-workings of America’s most important leadership team and most vital partnership during the America Revolution’s most crucial years. Quite simply and what has been almost entirely forgotten was the fact that after General Washington, Hamilton filled the most important position in America’s military from March 1777 to early 1781.

Indeed, this ultra-nationalist team of Washington and Hamilton played a leading role in not only winning the war, but also in charting the new nation’s future course well into the twenty-first century. The symbiotic Washington–Hamilton relationship was America’s most important and crucial partnership in early American history, and the chief of staff role was the vital glue that kept this dynamic relationship together in both war and peace.

Generations of military and academic historians have long wondered about what was the most important link that so closely united these two Founding Fathers and bonded them tightly together for so long, especially when their relationship was an impersonal, work-based one. Consequently, this book has been written to answer this enduring mystery—Hamilton’s all-important role as Washington’s chief of staff, comparable to that of the equally brilliant Louis Alexandre Berthier for Napoleon. Significantly, just as Berthier was the most important chief of staff of the Napoleonic Wars and was one of the forgotten secrets of Napoleon’s string of amazing successes across Europe, so too did Hamilton serve as the invaluable chief of staff who made Washington a much better general.

In the end, Hamilton’s many invaluable and diverse contributions for such an extended period might well have saved not only the commander-in-chief position of George Washington, but also played a larger role in separating winner from loser in the American Revolution. Although obscured by Washington’s giant shadow that has long diminished the importance of his unparalleled and unprecedented role as chief of staff in the modern sense, Hamilton’s wartime years have presented a striking paradox, because no one accomplished more during the war years and gained less credit for what he achieved for such an extended period at such a high level. For good reason when he gave his farewell address and submitted his resignation as commander-in-chief to Congress at Annapolis, Maryland, on December 23, 1783, Washington especially thanked his trusty aides-de-camp, and no one was more deserving of his most sincere thanks than Hamilton, because his larger-than-life role from beginning to end.

In one of the great ironies of Revolutionary War historiography, the most important position in the Continental Army (Washington’s indispensable right-hand man for most of the war), after commander-in-chief of course, has been long minimized by historians in one of the most glaring omissions in the historical record. Generations of American historians have long focused exclusively on the accomplishments that Washington achieved, as if these successes were made entirely on his own—as if his gifted chief of staff named Alexander Hamilton never existed. Therefore, one of the most important roles of any military officer in the annals of American history has been long overlooked for reasons based more on jealousy, pettiness, and heated postwar politics than the facts.

Phillip Thomas Tucker, PhD

Washington, DC

August 15, 2016


Chapter I

A Natural Rebel with Much to Prove

Alexander Hamilton, a brilliant young immigrant from the Caribbean, made his dreams come true in America in spectacular fashion and in relatively short time. America, like Hamilton, overcame the odds to reach its full potential, but only after a great deal of heartache and struggle, winning its independence after eight years of bitter conflict. When he first stepped on the shores of America in the summer of 1773 not long before the American Revolution, few young men seemed so unlikely to reach such soaring heights as Hamilton.

For such reasons, Hamilton embraced the totality of the American dream and a heady new nationalism like a holy shroud, and quickly distanced himself from his dark West Indian past. Despite his future successes, the emotional pain of that dark past of a troubled life never left him. With a chip on his shoulder from the snubs and humiliations of his past because of his low social standing, the young man made for a natural revolutionary who fit neatly into the mainstream of angry Americans determined to shake off the bondage of the mother country.

Hamilton’s unpleasant early life in the Caribbean was no fault of his own. Hamilton’s father, James—a Scottish aristocrat and aspiring merchant with little business savvy—deserted the family and was not seen again. James Hamilton was the fourth of eleven children from the family estate at Ayrshire, southwest Scotland. However, a branch of the Hamilton family had been centered in the township of Hambleton, England. Handsome and personable, Hamilton’s father was a Scottish nobleman and proud of it, but at the same time was a ne’er-do-well, whose Caribbean business ventures too often went awry. He never married Hamilton’s mother, the considerably younger Rachel Faucette-Lavien, and their informal relationship represented the relatively loose morality of West Indian Creole society. She was a feisty woman of French Huguenot descent. Strong-willed and a force to be reckoned with, Rachel hailed from a respected family who owned a small sugar cane plantation on the Caribbean island of Nevis. Having the greatest influence on Alexander’s life than anyone else, she was a remarkable woman of moral courage and intelligence, and ahead of her time in many fundamental ways.

Before James Hamilton’s arrival, Rachel Faucette’s first husband had resulted in an ill-fated and disastrous relationship for the spirited young woman. When she was only sixteen, Rachel had been swept off her feet and married a Dane, Johann (John) Michael Lavien, more than ten years her senior, in 1745. Rachel eventually realized her grave mistake. Around 1750, after about a half decade of marriage, she struck out on her own way rather than endure a loveless, perhaps even abusive, relationship. Rachel simply left, after her husband had used up her inheritance that had once been a “snug fortune.” Rachel ended her relationship much like her mother Mary did before her, who had gained a legal separation from her husband.

A fancy dresser with an outsized ego, Lavien (Lavine in Alexander Hamilton’s spelling) was a German-Jewish merchant from Copenhagen, Denmark. Like most ambitious transplants from the cities of western Europe, he had aspired to seek his fortune in the West Indies and become a sugar and cotton planter and small slave-owner on the Danish island of St. Croix. Lavien also hoped that Rachel would return to him, but her independent spirit and ways dictated otherwise, which resulted in a personal vendetta from an embittered husband.

After having been an apprentice with a leading Glasgow businessman and textile merchant in the growing linen industry, James Hamilton had been working for a St. Christopher (better known as St. Kitts) mercantile firm that had extensive ties to Glasgow, including sugar refineries. James first met Rachel in the Leeward Island of St. Kitts. She had briefly moved from St. Croix with son Peter Lavien, her only legitimate child, born in 1746, to rejoin her mother, who was living with a large landowning planter on the island of Nevis. However, Rachel returned to St. Croix, where she supported herself by renting out her three slaves (Flora, Esther, and Rebecca inherited from her grandmother), and by a small sewing business. Under pressure from debtors and her vindictive husband who had her imprisoned at the main fort in Christianstead (the capital of St. Croix) for adultery, the persecuted Rachel fled to the English island of St. Kitts in 1750, abandoning all that she had known, including her son Peter: a drastic step that now made a legal separation from her estranged husband impossible and would doom any future children (James Hamilton, Jr., and Alexander Hamilton) as illegitimate.

Destiny seemed to have ordained a fateful meeting on St. Kitts between Rachel and James Hamilton in the early 1750s. Because divorce was such a rare and expensive undertaking at this time, and remarriage was now not possible for Rachel in legal terms under convoluted Danish law on St. Croix, Alexander’s mother (although legally still married to Lavien) lived an unconventional lifestyle with James Hamilton. Under the circumstances, it was impossible for Rachel to legitimize their relationship and common law marriage in legal terms. She lived with James for perhaps as many as fifteen years, a period in which he was unable to acquire riches in the Caribbean. Born around 1718 and raised in his landed family’s Kerelaw Castle, which overlooked the port town of Stevenston, Scotland, James had grown up with the finer things in life. Like most West Indies planters, James had planned to retire in his native homeland after he made his riches in the Caribbean.

The two were polar opposites. Rachel’s dominant traits were not only practicality and commonsense but also intelligence, while James was more of a dreamer that ensured some “indolence.” However, James Hamilton was blessed with a pleasing personality and charming ways. Fortunately for him, Alexander Hamilton benefitted from this union by gaining the most admirable qualities of each parent. Even by Caribbean standards, this common-law marriage was scandalous, but less so if on the mainland, when Alexander Hamilton—the couple’s second son after James, Jr.—was born in Charlestown, the capital of Nevis in the British Caribbean, on Saturday, January 11, 1755. Lacking the work ethic necessary to succeed but burdened with a sense of entitlement of a proud Scottish nobleman, James, Sr. dealt the hard-luck Rachel another severe blow. After having failed as a husband like in his business ventures, he deserted the family in 1766. After having brought his common-law wife and two sons from Nevis to St. Croix’s busiest port, Christiansted, Hamilton disappeared for good. Alexander never saw his father again.1

After nearly a decade of having fled St. Croix, Lavien filed for divorce in 1759 in order to protect his one legitimate heir, Peter Lavien, while ensuring that Alexander and James were declared bastard and “whore children,” who could never legally inherit any of his property. With the 1759 decision of the judge sitting on the Danish divorce court, Lavien was allowed to remarry, unlike Rachel. Rachel had been disgraced by her husband’s wrath, including what might well have been trumped-up charges of adultery that caused her to be jailed in Christiansted for a short period.

As sad fate would have it, Alexander Hamilton paid a high psychological and emotional price for all of these unfortunate developments, and the unconventional nature of his mother’s relationship with his father, and his illegitimate status. This was especially the case in the port of Christiansted, where his mother had suffered her greatest setbacks and humiliations, weighing heavily on a woman valiantly struggling against the odds. As a result, Alexander’s first education came in the school of hard knocks.

Although from a broken family herself and not raised by her father, Rachel had found the long-term relationship with the affable Scotsman, relatively secure. Alexander certainly benefitted from this early stability of a nuclear family. Despite being destined to experience hard times in the Caribbean, Alexander never lived in a lower class dwelling. Before relocating to St. Croix with James Hamilton in the spring of 1765, Rachel had lived with him in a stone waterfront home located on the foreshore of Gallows Bay in the port of Charlestown on Nevis’ southwestern side near the Customs House. Situated on the main street that ran parallel to the bay and near Anglican Churches, Rachel had inherited this property from her father. The large, two-story house stood on a flat, sandy plot of land located not far from the luminous blue-green wide bay.2

Because of the family’s dysfunctional past, young Alexander suffered from the inevitable social backlash while growing up on St. Croix, especially after his father’s departure. He was forced to fight for his reputation, name, and honor in Christiansted’s streets, learning firsthand about the harshness and unfairness of the outside world, hard lessons that he never lost and wounds that never disappeared. Rather remarkably, however, he never held any resentment or bore a grudge toward his “charming scamp of a father,” for abandoning the family. In social terms, the Celtic background of the family of Alexander’s Scottish father was distinguished and respectable, which was so vitally important in class-conscious eighteenth century society and especially to a young man without a stable family life. The distinguished heritage became a source of pride for Alexander in his dark moments.

Despite the hardships brought about by his father’s hasty departure when he was ten, and his mother’s upcoming death from yellow fever on February 18, 1768, when he was only thirteen, Alexander developed a tough-mindedness, hardened exterior, and resiliency that served as an emotional and psychological buffer for protection, qualities that served him well in meeting life’s stern challenges in the future. Cruel twists of fate and adversity shaped a young Hamilton out of necessity into a responsible individual mature well beyond his years. With a passion and ample justification because he had suffered in this class-based environment, the ever-egalitarian Hamilton long denounced the rigid artificiality of class distinctions and aristocracy on both sides of the Atlantic. He sincerely believed that non-aristocratic “blood is as good as that of those who plume themselves upon their ancestry.”3

The place of Alexander’s birth, Nevis, lay in the Queen’s Leewards, consisting of five tropical islands situated amid turquoise waters. Only thirty-five square miles in size, Nevis was positioned near its oddly shaped sister island of St. Kitts (first known as St. Christopher and about twice Nevis’ size), from where James Hamilton hailed. These two islands rose up from the same mountain range that had been thrust upward from the ocean’s floor millions of years ago.

Alexander Hamilton’s life at the port of Charlestown, Nevis, till age ten, and then later Christiansted, St. Croix, to age seventeen, was filled with the sights and sounds of the busy wharf and dock: noisy fishermen and sailors from around the world; the sight of large numbers of black slaves; stately royal palms and orange trees loaded with ripe fruit; flocks of low-flying brown pelicans flying low over blue waters in search of unwary fish; lucrative island commerce from nations around the world; and African slaves gathering at the town’s marketplace every Sunday to sell their produce. Towering above Charleston, Nevis was distinguished by snow-covered Mount Nevis, which dominated the island’s center. Standing at 3,200 feet above sea level and often obscured in clouds, this imposing mountain towered over a green carpet of sugar cane plantations that covered the fertile lowlands. Christopher Columbus had allegedly christened this picturesque island Nuestra Señora de las Nieves (Our Lady of the Snows) because of the extinct volcano’s frigid peak. Bustling Charlestown was the island’s largest and busiest port.4

In an environment that was the antithesis of the traditional backgrounds and native environments (mostly small farms or larger Southern estates near the east coast) of the other Founding Fathers, the beauty of Nevis and St. Croix contrasted sharply with the harsh realities of life—including slavery’s horrors—on these tropical islands. He had seen men, women, and children sold on the auction block. The horrors and agonies of slavery left a deep impression upon young Hamilton, who became a hater of slavery and a diehard abolitionist. In fact, Alexander’s early experiences that confirmed the humanity of slaves—which had been denied by so many whites—allowed him to stand high above most of his fellow Founding Fathers in moral terms.

Rachel became the owner of five full-grown female slaves after her mother’s death, which had allowed her to inherit two additional slaves who were likewise hired out. She assigned a young slave boy named Ajax to Alexander as a body servant. Charlestown prospered as the island’s primary slave market, part of the lucrative international mercantile system. Besides the endless source of cheap labor performed by the unfortunate Africans in the broad fields, the rich volcanic island soil, warm weather, and bright sunshine all fueled the island’s primary cash crop of sugar cane. Nevis was covered by flowing cane fields that stretched as far as the eye could see. The sprawling planter estates were dotted with rounded stone windmills that provided the wind energy, along with slave labor, that crushed the green stalks into cane juice.5

The basic core of Hamilton’s personality, including his hated of slavery, was formed in his personal struggles and humiliations on St. Croix. The world of the Danish West Indies shaped and molded the man destined to become one of America’s most unforgettable Founding Fathers, although that significant influence has been long minimized by generations of historians. Ironically, St. Kitts would send much-needed supplies to General George Washington’s Army during the first two years of the American Revolution, which might have been a source of pride to Hamilton, while serving his country.

Distinguished by a sound business sense, financial smarts, strong will, and work ethic, Rachel was tough and resourceful out of necessity. The independent-minded Rachel was autonomous to a degree not usually seen in a woman at this time. She defied a patriarchal society’s lowly expectations, especially when on her own. After James Hamilton abandoned the family and was seen no more, the irrepressible Rachel was primarily responsible for providing for herself and two sons, Alexander and James, Jr., by her own resourcefulness and brainpower to create a decent life for the hard-luck family on St. Croix. A bright woman who had mastered the art of survival on her own, Rachel was a skilled businesswoman who continued to defy convention. Her entrepreneurial sense and never-say-die spirit were passed down to her precocious son, who was destined to put these admirable qualities to good use on American soil.

A hard worker, Rachel successfully operated a small store from her rented two-story house (the upstairs was the residence and downstairs was the business) at No. 34 Company Street in Christiansted. Rachel’s wealthy brother-in-law, James Lytton, paid the rent and donated the Spartan furnishings. He might also have contributed the silver utensils and porcelain water basins and plates owned by Rachel. Conducting a profitable business to support her family unlike the fumbling James at a time when women seldom operated an independent business enterprise, she sold a variety of goods imported from the American colonies through the import-export mercantile firm of David Beekman and Nicholas Cruger of New York City. These imports, especially salt pork and flour, were sold by Rachel to plantation owners, who exclusively grew crops of sugar cane to utilize all available acreage. In addition, Rachel’s good looks and stylish dress at age thirty-six did nothing to hurt business among admiring male customers.

Most importantly, Alexander learned at an early age how to effectively manage and operate the store, gaining an understanding of financial matters and becoming an expert at accounting. Hamilton also learned the advantages of promptly paying debts while working by his mother’s side and gaining a well-honed knowledge for business. Meanwhile, his enterprising mother also gained income from the five slaves, whom she continued to rent out. Despite its small size, Alexander’s Caribbean world was cosmopolitan and lively, thriving at the crossroads of imperial destinies and mercantile ambitions of the major European powers. Sailing ships from around the world docked at the Caribbean’s major ports, including those in St. Croix. Christiansted was the thriving commercial center, situated on St. Croix’s north central side, while Frederiksted was located on the island’s west side. Named in honor of Danish kings, these bustling towns were laid out and built in traditional Danish-style, with whitewashed homes and buildings gleaming in the Caribbean sunshine.

Hamilton saw little romance on the tropical islands of either Nevis or St. Croix, only the harsh realities of what was often a short life in the hell of the tropics, especially from the ravages of disease. Because of the stain on the family name and the geographic-social constraints for future advancement, Hamilton’s ambitions were early frustrated. Therefore, he soon found a satisfying refuge in books, including thirty-four volumes owned by his mother. These books were almost certainly bought or donated by her well-to-do brother-in-law, James Lytton, who had married her sister Ann. This small library, which almost certainly included the Holy Bible, was a rare luxury for a relatively young woman of only modest means, speaking well of Rachel’s intellectual abilities and foresight in regard to her sons. Hamilton viewed St. Croix’s eighty-four square miles and three hundred eighty sugar plantations as little more than a prison that confined his growing ambitions and dreams.6

Processing bills of lading, bookkeeping, accounting, and tabulating funds as a teenage apprentice at the mercantile firm of Beekman and Cruger (eventually to become Kortright and Cruger which continued to be based in the great mercantile center of New York) was a dead-end occupation for Hamilton’s lofty aspirations. His mother had secured this entry position for Alexander since he was eleven, when his education in business continued unabated after having worked at his mother’s store: a wise decision that ensured the young man a livelihood and mentor, Nicholas Cruger. Rachel had done all that she could to place her precious son in a professional position, and she succeeded admirably in her mission.

Rachel died on February 19, 1768, of a yellow fever epidemic at age thirty-eight, thanks in part to an excessive bleeding procedure prescribed by her physician. The same epidemic nearly took Alexander’s life, and he was fortunate to have survived. Thankfully, to provide Alexander with some consolation, social humiliation did not follow Rachel in death because of her past social indiscretions. She was buried at nearly St. John’s Anglican Church, and the religious-minded young man envisioned her good soul ascending to heaven, where it belonged, contrary to the harsh opinions of most self-righteous people in Christiansted.

Then, as if not enough tragedy had marred Alexander’s life, Rachel’s still vindictive Danish husband Lavien suddenly returned and laid claim to his wife’s meager estate because she had not left a will. With evil intent in his personal war that never ended against Rachel and her memory, he deprived Alexander and his brother, now orphans and on their own, of their inheritance, which included Rachel’s five adult female slaves. Alexander and James continued to suffer only because they were illegitimate. Again, the relentless Lavien was determined that everything was to go to his legitimate son of Rachel, Peter. The court agreed, and all of Rachel’s estate went to Peter. The two young men were then placed under the legal guardianship of Peter Lytton, a cousin in his early thirties. However, during the summer of 1769, a troubled Peter Lytton committed suicide, leaving his estate to his black paramour, Ledja, and their mulatto children. Then, less than a month later, wealthy brother-in-law James Lytton also died: still another stunning setback for the forlorn Alexander and James, Jr., whose fortunes continued to spiral downward at a rapid rate. Displaying the strength of character long demonstrated by his mother, as if he were compensating for his wayward father’s shortcomings, Hamilton channeled the family setbacks and humiliations to his maximum advantage. He developed an uncanny ability to turn negatives into positives, with reversals only strengthening his will to succeed in life. Hamilton was consumed with his great dream, to escape the Caribbean at the first opportunity, because he hated “the groveling and [lowly] condition of a clerk,” as he lamented in a letter dated November 11, 1769, at age fourteen.7

Alexander finally benefitted from a decent break in life. While older brother James Hamilton, Jr., became an apprentice to a carpenter, Alexander was taken in by the family of wealthy merchant Thomas Stevens on King Street, after his mother’s death. Alexander also gained a best friend in the merchant’s son, Edward “Ned” (also “Neddy” as Hamilton penned in letters, including the one on November 11, 1769) Stevens, who was near his own age. The two young Creoles were much alike, even sharing a hatred of slavery. But this promising son of one of Christiansted’s leading merchants left for America to complete his education. In November 1769, while languishing as a teenage apprentice to Beekman and Cruger, where he had been working before Peter Lytton’s death, Hamilton worked long hours at the company’s headquarters near the busy wharf. Alexander’s desire to escape from St. Croix was so strong that he wrote his best friend, Ned Stevens, who was studying at King’s College (now Columbia University) in New York City, that he had “to confess my weakness,” which was a soaring ambition.8 Significantly, in regard to his future ascent in life, the many “harrowing experiences of his youth did not embitter Hamilton against the world [but] instilled in him an inflexible resolution to conquer it” rather than be conquered.9

Year after year, Hamilton engaged in thankless employment for Nicholas Cruger, a New York City merchant of Dutch heritage, at King Street’s lower in downtown Christiansted. Here, at the company’s store and large warehouse near the wide harbor and the wharf, Hamilton demonstrated his considerable talents and superior abilities over an extended period. Nicholas Cruger, Alexander’s boss, was the son of a leading mercantile and political family of New York City, which had elected two Cruger mayors. Nicholas was a junior partner of St. Croix’s most lucrative exporter of sugar and molasses to England’s thirteen colonies. Hamilton now had connections to New York City, where he was eventually bound, while putting his French to good use, because of the firm’s business links to the French West Indies, especially St. Domingue (the future Haiti).

Blessed with a strong work ethic and stamina for long hours of labor, Hamilton’s knowledge of finance and commerce became more refined. In 1769 when Hamilton was fourteen, and after having worked as a clerk for around three years, David Beekman departed the firm. He was replaced by New Yorker Cornelius Kortright. However, Hamilton’s lowly status did not change at Kortright and Cruger.

But then an opportunity unexpectedly developed. Hamilton’s promise increased in Cruger’s eyes when he excelled by taking charge and making smart decisions, after excelling at extra responsibilities far beyond a clerk’s duties. This golden opportunity to demonstrate the full extent of his abilities came by accident. Despite only being sixteen, Hamilton suddenly benefitted from rising from a lowly clerk’s position in October 1771 to become a very effective manager during Cruger’s temporary absence. With his trademark boundless energy and savvy in money matters, Hamilton had even improved the business by making tough decisions, including having to fire the company’s attorney and ship captain who had drained the company’s profits. Cruger imported the same commodities, including fine “Philadelphia flour” that Rachel had sold at her provisioning store, whose goods supplied the sugar planters. But after effectively managing the firm’s St. Croix business operations like a veteran manager many years his senior, Hamilton returned to his former clerk position when a recovered Cruger reappeared to take over.

Since he was mostly self-taught, Hamilton continued to read and write as he grew older, nursing a desire to become a distinguished man of letters, perhaps as a ticket out of the detested tropics and bleak island exile. He became more ambitious when a newspaper was established in Christiansted in 1770, which fueled his literary efforts. In early April 1771, he wrote a romantic poem, which was published in St. Croix’s primary English newspaper. Displaying no bitter feelings about the family’s abandonment, Alexander also wrote a riveting letter to his wayward father, who was living somewhere in the southern Caribbean, about a tropical hurricane’s devastation of St. Croix.

Hamilton’s hurricane letter was republished in the Royal Danish American Gazette on October 3, 1772. At age seventeen, Hamilton drew widespread attention for his masterful prose and colorful vocabulary distinguished by a precocious blend of passion, religion, and wit that seemingly could only have been written by an older (cynical and worldly) and more experienced writer. As demonstrated in the past, he proved himself adept as thoroughly with poems treating sexual topics as he was with religious themes. The sermon-like hurricane letter reminded readers of the supreme folly of man, who was deserving of such divine retribution for earthly sins. Hamilton’s words had a dramatic impact on the upper-class elite of St. Croix, even garnering the governor’s attention. With his promise and intelligence so bright, a group of benevolent local backers, almost certainly organized by Reverend Hugh Knox and no doubt including men like his employer Nicholas Cruger and his guardian Thomas Stevens, decided to send Hamilton to America to further his education by studying medicine. Doctors were always needed on the disease-ridden tropical island, where yellow fever had taken so many lives, including Hamilton’s own mother. Hence, young men from the islands, like Hamilton’s good friend “Neddie” Stevens now a student at King’s College, studied medicine in America.10

Reverend Knox’s personal and spiritual influence in assisting Hamilton to fulfill his dreams can hardly be overestimated. Arriving on St. Croix in early 1772, the enlightened Scottish Presbyterian minister who had been educated in divinity at the College of New Jersey (later Princeton University), became not only Hamilton’s mentor but also his savior. As the pastor of the Scottish Presbyterian Church in Christiansted, Knox’s influence resulted in Hamilton’s spiritual turn to religious poetry, and then to more lofty writing pursuits. From Knox, born among the Irish Presbyterians of Ulster Province, north Ireland, and his extensive library, Hamilton gained not only a greater spiritual faith, but also an early education in Enlightenment ideologies and philosophies. Desiring for this gifted young man to succeed in life beyond a lowly clerk trapped on a remote island, the handsome Knox played the key role in paving the way for Hamilton to go to America to fulfill his lofty ambitions. After he secured Knox’s letters of introduction to friends in America and learned of the availability of donated funds in America for continuing his education, the opportunities in America beckoned to the young Hamilton as never before.

On a day that he never forgot, Alexander Hamilton walked out along the same lengthy Christiansted wharf from which he and his family had arrived from Nevis in the spring of 1765 less than a decade before. When he finally sailed away from tiny St. Croix and the Caribbean forever in summer 1773 with few possessions, he had no desire to ever return to the place of so much personal suffering and pain. Hamilton left behind almost too many pained memories to count and no regrets.

Most of all, the young West Indian wanted nothing more than a new place and identity to start anew, because he was determined to make a name for himself. At only age eighteen, he was now highly motivated to prove wrong and show up all the haughty upper-class individuals who looked down upon him and his mother with such arrogance and disdain by gaining more distinction than all of them put together. Small wonder that this dreamy young man had early turned to reading, studying history, and writing as a comforting buffer against harsh realities of life in the Caribbean. He was smart, confident, and self-reliant, which boded well for whatever he embarked upon in America.

Phoenix Rising

After embarking upon a three-week journey from St. Croix and experiencing a close call when the ship had caught fire on the open sea, eighteen-year-old Alexander Hamilton landed on the mainland of British America in the summer of 1773. He arrived at the port of Boston, Massachusetts, with high hopes for a brighter future. Hamilton never saw the Caribbean again. He was fiercely motivated to excel in this new environment, despite being a perfect stranger to America and without a friend in this new world. Without family or social connections, he would have to excel on his own in a strange land that he had never seen before. But he had a soaring ambition and keen intelligence that were destined to serve him well in the days ahead. The humiliations of St. Croix failed to diminish his sense of optimism and hope for a brighter future. In fact, the family reversals and social embarrassments in the Caribbean had only fueled his desire to succeed at any cost. As fate would have it, he had entered a world as turbulent as his own past, because of stirrings of a people’s revolution were in the air.

Unlike anything seen on St. Croix, Hamilton found that America was a brewing cauldron of revolutionary sentiments fueled by heady Age of Enlightenment idealogy. He immediately journeyed south from Boston to New York City to pick up his allowance from his St. Croix backers for his education at the headquarters of Kortright and Company. Here, his friend Ned Stevens (the only person that he knew in America) studied at King’s College, and this was where Cruger’s associates lived. However, making an excellent initial impression with his smart dress, erect carriage, and winning personality, Hamilton easily cultivated new friends and associates. Hamilton met a radical merchant named Alexander McDougall, one of the leading Sons of Liberty, in New York City. On July 6, 1774, McDougall was destined to give a rousing speech that galvanized patriot support and greatly impressed Hamilton. Already an anti-establishment man with a long list of personal grievances against the ruling elite and upper class that he detested on St. Croix, Hamilton soaked up the fiery revolutionary sentiment of America and its heady egalitarian promise. Without the rise of this brewing conflict and his arrival in America occurring at exactly the right time, Hamilton would very likely have remained an obscure unknown individual lost to the pages of history.

Hamilton finally began to study at Elizabethtown (today’s Elizabeth), New Jersey, located just southwest of New York City on Newark Bay. The town was founded in 1664 and named after Queen Elizabeth I. Reverend Hugh Knox, his benevolent St. Croix mentor and chief supporter who had early recognized the young man’s potential, had given him introductory letters that allowed his entry into the Elizabethtown Academy. He did not have any relations in American nor hard currency except for the letters of credit secured from the Kortright and Company in New York City. Hamilton only had great expectations and winning ways in abundance to propel himself upward and onward. Here, just northwest of the northern edge of Staten Island and just west of the Hudson River, Hamilton thrived in his preparatory studies before gaining entry to college. More importantly, he excelled in the vibrant social world of Elizabethtown, where he made invaluable connections and lifelong friends of the social, political, and professional elite, including many attorneys: William Livingston, Elias Boudinot, William Alexander (Lord Stirling, who was of noble Scottish blood like Hamilton), and John Jay. Significantly, all of these men were destined to play leading roles in the struggle for liberty.

After six months of study at the academy (a prep school) thanks to Knox’s letter of introduction, Hamilton’s plan to attend school at the College of New Jersey (now Princeton University), a center of Presbyterian revolutionary sentiment, failed. Hamilton’s excessive academic ambitions required an accelerated course of study, which he boldly proposed to the school’s head, Scotland-born John Witherspoon. Hamilton’s proposal was rejected by letter from the board of trustees. Not deterred by the setback, Hamilton then applied to New York City’s King’s College (today’s Columbia University), where friend Ned Stevens studied, partly because he had new sponsors, such as William Alexander, who served on the college’s governing board. In addition, Hamilton was sufficiently urbane to thoroughly enjoy the bustling life of New York City, the throbbing economic center of America, compared to the dreary New Jersey backwoods of remote Princeton. To Hamilton’s delight, despite the fact that this educational institution was Anglican and Loyalist, King’s College accepted his plan to embark upon an accelerated course of study. He had finally fulfilled his desire to proceed on the fast track by the fall of 1773. More importantly, Hamilton’s rejection at Princeton thrust him into the heart of the swelling tide of revolution and among leading New York City patriots.

Only age eighteen, Hamilton had also targeted New York City because this was where the Cruger family had long conducted business. Hamilton possessed personal contacts through Kortright and Company, whose representative in St. Croix was Kortright and Cruger, which managed his educational allowance. In lower Manhattan, he boarded with an Irish immigrant tailor named Hercules Mulligan, and his wife Elizabeth. A handsome Irishman with blue eyes, Mulligan hailed from Coleraine, County Antrim, Ulster Province, north Ireland. The son of an accountant, he had migrated to America with his Scotch-Irish family at age six. Educated at King’s College and an Episcopalian born on the Emerald Isle in 1740, Mulligan was an influential leader of New York City’s Sons of Liberty and an active member of the New York Committee of Correspondence. Mulligan’s brother was a junior partner in the firm of Kortright and Company, while his father operated an accounting business, where he had once worked as a clerk: an experience shared by Hamilton in St. Croix. Hamilton and Mulligan were both gregarious and became fast friends.

Even more multi-cultural than the Caribbean, New York City was swept with a flood of new Enlightenment ideas about the meaning of freedom. Without hesitation, Hamilton had sided with the Americans in their quarrel against England, embracing a new patriotism and a nascent nationalism. Hamilton also continued to receive enlightened Presbyterian lessons (first learned from Reverend Knox in St. Croix) that emphasized the sacredness of republicanism and egalitarianism. Thanks to his dual educations from the New York Sons of Liberty and the egalitarian teachings of Presbyterianism, Hamilton quickly evolved into a champion of America’s destiny with a passion. Across America, a heightened sense of morality and religious faith, especially Presbyterianism, lay at the heart of the rise of republicanism.

Strengthened by Knox’s spiritual and liberal teachings before he had departed St. Croix, Hamilton’s Presbyterianism and his father’s faith from Scotland of the Great Awakening fused with the righteousness of revolutionary defiance toward Great Britain’s threats and dominance. The timely fusion was a natural fit for Hamilton, as he became a diehard revolutionary and nationalist. After all, he already had a considerable chip on his shoulder in regard to exploitive, arbitrary aristocratic authority and the abusive class structure on both sides of the Atlantic. Proving that he was very much his mother’s son, he naturally took to opposing the autocratic abuses of the ruling elite and wealthy planters, who had long arrogantly flaunted their high social standing to young men of a lower class like Hamilton.

After experiencing a freer life in an invigorating new land that was larger and more dynamic than he had imagined, Hamilton’s patriotism soared higher in the excitement of the times. His growing sense of nationalism had been fueled by meeting with the leading revolutionaries of New York City like McDougall. Born in Scotland, McDougall gave his most patriotic speech at the New York City Common, known as “The Fields,” near King’s College in July 1774, denouncing the harsh trade sanctions imposed by the British government on Boston, after the Boston Tea Party. But he was outdone by a slight, unknown teenager, who was a college student and an unknown to the people of New York City. Evidently without preparation, Hamilton took the stage and delivered a masterful speech on America’s behalf—which advocated a strong pro-Boston Tea Party stance and a commercial boycott of British goods—that left the crowd spellbound by its oratorical brilliance.

Quite by accident, the leaders of the Sons of Liberty had suddenly found a gifted spokesman. In another case of excellent timing, Hamilton needed New York City—America’s second largest city after Philadelphia—as much as New York’s relatively small group of zealous revolutionary leaders, needed a gifted writer, captivating street speaker, and deep thinker in the escalating propaganda war for the hearts and minds of citizens. After all, America’s largest commercial center was largely a Tory city. New York’s powerful provincial legislature consisted of faithful Loyalists with extensive political, economic, and personal connections to England. If not outright active Tories, many New Yorkers remained neutral, desiring only to stay out of the encroaching conflict. By contrast, the band of enthusiastic New York City revolutionaries, including their bright shining star named Hamilton, represented “the most daring spirits and the loftiest minds of the colony.”11

After New York City had grown into America’s major metropolis, Theodore Roosevelt, in 1906, concluded without exaggeration how “the purest and ablest New Yorkers were to be found in the ranks of the revolutionists…. The young men of ardent, generous temper, such as Alexander Hamilton, John Jay and Gouverneur Morris” played key roles in leading the way to revolution for New York’s patriots.12

Rising Up Against England’s Might

Like so many others of his day who fought for America, Hamilton had no prior military or political experience, but these class-based limitations did absolutely nothing to dim the young man’s ardor or confidence. Nevertheless, and as he had prophetically predicted to “Neddie” Stevens in regard to an armed conflict as a younger man (at age fourteen) in St. Croix in November 1769, Hamilton saw the encroaching war as an opportunity to earn distinction and win the respect from his peers to ensure his advance in a revolutionary society dedicated to equality.13

Of all the Founding Fathers, Hamilton was a man without a past (as he preferred under the circumstances) when he first arrived in New York City. America’s struggle offered the best chance of his life to literally reinvent himself into an entirely new man. Thanks to his own natural inclinations combined with the heady influence of New York City’s Sons of Liberty, Hamilton envisioned a people’s republic where anyone could rise on merit rather than social standing and wealth as on his detested St. Croix. Indeed, of “all the Founding Fathers, Hamilton was especially suited to fight for a new society where men could live together free of ancient customs and outworn prejudices” that had made his life difficult in St. Croix.14

Because he hailed from a faraway speck of a tropical island that was considered foreign to most Americans, especially because it was located in the Danish West Indies, Hamilton wanted to prove that he was a true American and republican. After his early July 1774 “Fields” speech that displayed his oratory skills that had mesmerized the crowd, Hamilton demonstrated his patriotic worthiness by advocating for American rights and an enthusiastic support for the First Continental Congress, and America’s liberty with brilliant writing that flowed so effortlessly from his hand. Clearly, even as this early date, Hamilton was demonstrating that he was a formidable dual threat—by way of pen and oratory—in the propaganda war to defy British dominance.

Hamilton gained greater public notice as a hard-hitting pamphleteer (under the appropriate name of “A Friend of America”) in an influential and timely piece of thirty-five pages published entitled “A Full Vindication of the Measure of Congress,” in December 1774. With analytical clarity, attorney-like precision, and a masterful style, Hamilton made the case that “Americans are entitled to freedom,” and systematically eviscerated the anti-Congress arguments of the gifted Loyalist writer and Anglican rector Samuel Seabury of Westchester, New York. In “A Westchester Farmer,” the Yale and Oxford man had wielded highly effective propaganda that dealt a severe blow to the patriot cause.

At this time, when a masterful rebuttal was needed to bolster patriot sentiment, especially in New York City, Hamilton was still a member of the student literary society at King’s College on the northern edge of New York City. A systematic dismantling of a brilliant writer who was a privileged, pompous Anglican clergyman and just the kind of authority figure that an outlier and natural rebel like Hamilton loved to mock and reduce in size, utilizing cleverly worded insults that packed powerful punches.

After Seabury answered his pamphlet, Hamilton then reentered the pamphlet war by releasing an even more hard-hitting attack in eighty pages, published on February 23, 1775, The Farmer Refuted. He especially emphasized his two greatest intellectual strengths, economics and politics, which revealed the immense depth of his knowledge and even prophetic insights that relatively few Americans had embraced at this time. Ever the optimistic visionary, Hamilton emphasized America’s future greatness and special destiny, if only the colonists would unite in their resistance against a common foe. Hamilton’s writings in his two masterful “Farmer” essays were broadly appealing and presaged central arguments later included in the Declaration of Independence, that many people believed that John Jay, a leading revolutionary and New York delegate of the First Continental Congress, was the author.

Hamilton early coveted the privilege of battling for the liberties of a freedom-loving people, joining the Sons of Liberty in February 1775 not long after his twentieth birthday. Thanks to his hard-hitting style on behalf of America in speech and pamphlet, he became “the darling” and “boy wonder” of the most diehard revolutionaries, especially the Sons of Liberty, in New York City. While still only a student in college, Hamilton had evolved into a respected patriot leader entirely in his own right.

Like Hamilton on his father’s side, Alexander McDougall was of Scottish descent, which represented another example of the importance of the extensive Celtic and Presbyterian contributions to America’s struggle for liberty. After all, the Scottish peoples’ own dream of independence had been crushed by English military might, and in many respects the fight in America was very much a continuation of an ancient war between Celtic people and Anglo-Saxons. For centuries, the English had become masters in the brutal art of smashing desperate liberation bids and budding nationalism among the Celtic people in Wales, Ireland, and Scotland: bloody lessons not lost to the immigrant sons of these conquered Celtic regions now living on American soil. Born on the island of Islay, Scotland, McDougall would form the First New York Regiment, and lose his beloved soldier son in America’s disastrous Canadian Campaign during the winter of 1775–1776.

Hamilton’s passion for independence early caused him to take the initiative in other ways besides masterful writing and fiery speechmaking. Hamilton enlisted in a volunteer infantry company of Manhattan men and boys known as “the Corsicans” under Captain Edward Fleming, a British Army veteran, with the news of the first clashes at Lexington and Concord, Massachusetts, in April 1775. He then gained invaluable knowledge about artillery from an experienced gunner, who almost certainly had served in the British Army like Fleming.

The ever-opportunistic Hamilton saw greater future possibilities for himself in service with the artillery arm than in the infantry. After learning about the proper useage of artillery from one of “the Corsicans,” therefore, he then helped to organize a volunteer artillery company, known as the “Heart of Oaks,” from a group of students in his literary society at King’s College in late 1775. Along with school mates Nicholas Fish and Robert Troup, former members of “the Corsicans,” and although still too young to shave, Hamilton wore a fancy and tight-fitting green uniform coat with a stylish brown leather cap distinguished by the words, “Liberty or Death.” He carried a flintlock pistol and a powder horn with his name carved in it. He also etched symbols on the powder horn that represented the true path to future success from his readings of Sir Francis Bacon. Hamilton’s hand-carved designs emphasized his motto of always looking forward to a brighter future, including the visualization of goals. He, therefore, carved a unicorn, which symbolized personal aspirations, with the design of a five-petal flower from the Hamilton family coat of arms on the hindquarters. After studying military manuals, meanwhile, he drilled his fifty student-gunners of the Heart of Oaks volunteer company on the grassy, open grounds of the churchyard of nearby St. Paul’s Church each morning before class at King’s College.

Then, May 10, 1775, Hamilton bravely intervened to quell an angry mob to save King’s College president Dr. Myles Cooper, who had been accused of Loyalist activities. Employing his masterful oratory before Cooper’s locked door, Hamilton bought time for the panicked president to escape in the nick of time. Clearly, even as a leading Sons of Liberty revolutionary in New York City, Hamilton had not lost his compassion or humanity for a Loyalist. Meanwhile, he continued his effective writing on behalf of the patriotic cause, including condemning the Quebec Act, because it extended the boundary of French Catholic Canada south and all the way to the Ohio River to infringe on America’s ambitions, especially colonies like Virginia, to extend farther west. Hamilton’s forceful arguments were printed in two essays published in the New-York Gazetteer, New York City. Not long thereafter, the native West Indian continued to demonstrate his skill with the pen with articles in the New York Journal. He produced a stunning total of fourteen essays in as many weeks under the pseudonym of “Monitor.” As usual, Hamilton emphasized how it was a conspiracy of corrupt and evil men of Parliament in London who were conniving to economically and politically enslave the American people.

Revealing that he was also a man of action, Hamilton was then part of a daring night raid that captured a large number of British cannon at the Grand Battery, located just south of rectangular-shaped Fort George at the southern tip of lower Manhattan Island, on the warm night of August 23, 1775. At the imposing artillery bastion—which contained two dozen large caliber cannon that faced New York harbor and had long protected the city from attack by water—Hamilton and more than a dozen King’s College volunteers played a role in rescuing the guns. With the sixty-four-gun British warship Asia close and seemingly about to send forth a shore party to take possession of the cannon, Hamilton and his comrades hauled off twenty-one of the precious guns. He risked his life in helping to evacuate cannon from the battery while under cannon-fire from the warship and musketry from soldiers manning a British patrol boat. On his own and ignoring the danger, Hamilton then returned to the battery and then coolly retrived his musket, misplaced by his friend Hercules Mulligan, that had been left behind.15

He resumed his studies at King’s College, but the drilling and training continued unabated on the grounds of St. Paul’s Church throughout the fall of 1775. When he left King’s College in January 1776 after around two years of study, Hamilton was determined to go his own way, despite not having formally graduated. Wartime requirements beckoned Hamilton, and he left his studies behind without regrets, because he knew that this people’s revolutionary provided unprecedented opportunities for a gifted young man on the rise. Long seen as a haven of Loyalists, King’s College was transformed into a hospital by the patriots. Ironically, the same classrooms where Hamilton had sat as a student were turned into prison cells for rebels, after the British captured New York City later in 1776.

At this time, the stern requirements of the revolutionary struggle called, and Hamilton’s days as one of America’s most effective pamphleteers and a Corsican and Hearts of Oak militiaman were over. Hamilton wanted to see action even to the point of rejecting lofty positions that guaranteed social connections and advancement. “I am going into the army,” he wrote on February 18, 1776, and Hamilton’s life would never be the same. Clearly, the young man was not a soulless mercenary type in this regard. When he was offered a prestigious position on the staff of his old friend Brigadier General William Alexander (Lord Stirling) through his friend Elias Boudinot, Hamilton declined. This was a surprising decision for any young officer except Hamilton, who was a true outlier in this regard. He utterly detested the concept of taking a subordinate role, although a staff officer’s position could provide a path to upward mobility on the coattails of a successful general.

Hamilton was determined to fulfill his ambition for active field command rather than staff duty. In consequence, he turned his sights on becoming a captain as a battery commander, after New York City friend Alexander McDougall, former ship captain and Sons of Liberty leader, recommended him as the commander (captain) of the New York artillery unit in February 1776. This artillery unit was to be raised by the New York Provincial Assembly to protect the city. Hamilton, consumed by revolutionary zeal and patriotic sentiment, was eager for action to prove his worth to one and all.

However, he lacked the necessary experience, and officers’ commissions only seemed to be awarded to well-known members of New York City’s social and political elite, and not to recent immigrants from a small Caribbean island or a young man fresh out of King’s College. This new artillery unit was the only battery that represented New York City, providing high visibility and widespread recognition for stirring accomplishments, if demonstrated on the battlefield. Even though he was an idealist in regard to America’s struggle, the young man from the West Indies had no illusions about the cost of fighting for freedom, and wrote on February 18, 1776, with his usual flair: “perhaps ere long [I] may be destined to seal with my blood the sentiments defended by my pen. Be it so, if heaven decree it. I was born to die and my reason and conscience tell me it is impossible to die in a better or more important cause.”16 Revealing that intellectual reasoning applied to scrutinizing his own motivations even in the midst of a sacred struggle for liberty, Hamilton excused his burning ambition to excel on the battlefield as just a common feature of human nature that was largely beyond his control: “The desire for reward is one of the strongest incentives for human conduct,” he wrote.17

An enigma and perhaps the most complex Founding Father, Hamilton was a rare blend of a man of action and scholarly intellectual. He was “one of the first Americans of the War of Independence to unlimber a cannon” in the name of America.18 However, despite the majority having no military experience themselves, the well-dressed aristocrats of the New York Provincial Assembly had to be convinced that this recent immigrant and a smooth-faced college student could command the respect of his older American-born volunteers to gain distinction on the battlefield for the city and assembly. Influential patrons continued to speak up in his behalf to support this young man unknown to Americans only a few months before. These included John Jay, of Huguenot descent, and Colonel Alexander McDougall, who was the son of a “Scots milkman.” But even this support was not enough to win Hamilton the coveted position; he would have to do it himself. As so often in the past, Hamilton then applied his can do aptitude for overcoming obstacles. He studied long and hard for the examination required to secure the coveted position. Improving upon what he had already learned as a college student outside of the classroom on the training ground of King’s College, Hamilton shortly became an expert in artillery, the army’s most technical arm, at a time when few Americans knew anything about it.

Hamilton’s graceful manners and dignified style revealed a confident natural leader of men, including those who were much older, and a proper gentleman that were viewed as so important in colonial and colonial society: requirements for the right kind of leadership in the eyes of New Yorker leaders, who also placed faith in McDougall’s and Jay’s vote of confidence. His diverse range of abilities also impressed the patriotic members of the New York Provincial Assembly. At age twenty-one, Hamilton won the appointment to command the New York “Provincial Company of Artillery” with the rank of captain on March 14, 1776. Hamilton became one of the youngest captains in America’s militia. Most importantly, he proved that he adhered to his own words that had been read by large numbers of Americans in a recent pamphlet: “the law of nature which gives every man a right to his personal liberty, and therefore confer no obligation to obedience.”19

Exhibiting a dashing style and a meticulous eye for detail that in part made him a good commander, Hamilton wore a splendid blue uniform coat newly made at a New York City tailor shop. Hamilton had always been a sharp dresser when he could afford to be, and he now continued his distinct style as a proud New York artillery officer. His captain’s fine uniform was very likely made at Hercules Mulligan’s tailor shop on Water Street in lower Manhattan, located near the wharves along the East River. Hamilton became a model officer, who would never lord over his men like most military leaders of the day. Assisted by Mulligan in scouring lower Manhattan, Hamilton had recruited a good many Irish and Scots to serve in his battery, including illiterate immigrants, and an occasional Dutchman with roots in the former New Amsterdam Colony. Hamilton’s artillery unit, the New York Provincial Company of Artillery, soon contained sixty-eight gunners, whom he trained intensely to become some of the best artillerymen in the service. These artillerymen wore blue coats with white shoulder belts of leather and brass buttons to reflect the “smart” appearance that Hamilton required of himself.

Hamilton was described by a Pennsylvania officer as “under middle size, thin in person, but remarkably erect and dignified in his deportment. His hair was turned back from his forehead, powdered and collected in a club behind. His complexion was exceedingly fair, and varying from this only by the almost feminine rosiness of his cheeks … as to figure and colour, an uncommonly handsome face [and] when in conversation it easily assumed an attractive smile.”20

The young officer was determined to prove himself, after having mastered the artilleryman’s art and win distinction on the battlefield. He had dressed and equipped his cannoneers, now some of the best-uniformed soldiers, who wore buckskin pants, in America, by using the remaining college funds provided by his St. Croix sponsors. Hamilton developed into a highly respected commander: Hard-working, conscientious, and always concerned for his men’s welfare to ensure their loyalty and full support.21 His well-honed business experience from his St. Croix days paid invaluable dividends in organizing and supplying his New York battery.22

Week after week, Hamilton trained and prepared his young New York artillerymen to oppose the finest British regulars in defending New York City. But he still found time to study the books to continue his education, while transforming his men into a very good artillery unit distinguished by its “appearance and the regularity of their movements.” He proved to be an ideal and popular commander, who early gained the respect of his gunners. Hamilton realized that it was only a matter of time before Great Britain launched a mighty expedition with the mission of crushing the rebellion. Ironically, as revealed in his late 1774 writings, when he was more naïve but still amazingly prophetic, Hamilton had been convinced that only “the grossest infatuation of madness itself [could cause the English monarchy to] enforce her despotic claims by fire and sword.” Then, in his The Farmer Refuted in early 1775 and with the keen insight for which he was becoming known, Hamilton “may have been the first in print to maintain that Britain could not win the war” in the end.23
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